JUL 0 9 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

COA No. 31037-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

V.

CHRISTOPHER GEORGE NICHOLS,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Kenneth H. Kato, WSBA # 6400 Attorney for Appellant 1020 N. Washington St. Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 220-2237

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error
	1. Did the court err by admitting evidence of an unrelated murder under the res gestae exception. To ER 404(b)'s prohibition against admissibility of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove a person's character in order to show action in conformity therewith? (Assignment of Error A)
	Did the court err by not giving a limiting instruction to the jury on the ER 404(b) evidence? (Assignment of Error A)
	3. Did the court commit reversible error when it sentenced Mr. Nichols to a standard range sentence of 1530 months in prison without actually considering the defense's request for an exceptional sentence downward? (Assignment of Error B)
II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE

III. ARGUMENT14
A. The court erred by admitting evidence of an unrelated murder under the res gestae exception to ER 404(b)'s prohibition against admissibility of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove a person's character in order to show action in conformity with it
B. The court erred by sentencing Mr. Nichols to 1530 months in prison when it refused to consider imposing an exceptional sentence downward as requested by the defense
IV. CONCLUSION27
TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
Table of Cases
State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 163 P.3d 786 (2007)21, 22
State v. Garcia-Martinez, 88 Wn. App. 322, 944 P.2d 1104 (1997), review denied, 136 Wn.2d 1002 (1998)
State v. Grayson, 154 Wn.2d 333, 111 P.3d 1183 (2005)26, 27
State v. Lane, 125 Wn.2d 825, 889 P.2d 929 (1995)17, 20
State v. Murphy, 98 Wn. App. 42, 988 P.2d 1018 (1999), review denied, 140 Wn.2d 1018 (2000)27
State v. Mutchler, 53 Wn. App. 898, 771 P.2d 1168, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1002 (1989)21
State v. Russell, 171 Wn.2d 118, 249 P.3d 604 (2011)21
State v. Saltarelli, 98 Wn.2d 358, 655 P.2d 797 (1982)17
State v. Tharp, 27 Wn. App. 198, 616 P.2d 693 (1980), aff'd, 96 Wn.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981)16, 17, 18, 19, 20

State v. Thompson, 47 VVn. App. 1, 733 P.2d 584, review denied, 108 VVn.2d 1014 (1987)1	9, 20		
State v. Tobin, 161 Wn.2d 517, 166 P.3d 1167 (2007)	20		
State v. Trickler, 106 Wn. App. 727, 25 P.3d 445 (2001)	21		
State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. 66, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009)	21		
State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker, 79 Wn.2d 12, 482 P.2d 775 (1971)	20		
Statutes			
RCW 9.41.040(6)23	3, 26		
RCW 9.41.040(7)	23		
RCW 9.94A.589	22		
RCW 9.94A.589(1)(c)Rules	26		
ER 404(b)	', 20		

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- A. The court erred by admitting evidence of an unrelated murder in which Christopher George Nichols was not involved.
- B. Because it failed to actually consider the defense's request for an exceptional sentence downward, the court erred by sentencing Mr. Nichols to a standard range sentence of 1530 months in prison on his convictions for nine counts of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, nine counts of theft of a firearm, one count of residential burglary, one count of first degree trafficking in stolen property, and one count of theft of a motor vehicle.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

- 1. Did the court err by admitting evidence of an unrelated murder under the res gestae exception to ER 404(b)'s prohibition against admissibility of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove a person's character in order to show action in conformity therewith? (Assignment of Error A).
- 2. Did the court err by not giving a limiting instruction to the jury on the ER 404(b) evidence? (Assignment of Error A).
- 3. Did the court commit reversible error when it sentenced Mr. Nichols to a standard range sentence of 1530 months in prison

without actually considering the defense's request for an exceptional sentence downward? (Assignment of Error B).

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Nichols was charged by amended information with nine counts of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, nine counts of theft of a firearm, one count of residential burglary, one count of theft of a motor vehicle, one count of first degree trafficking in stolen property, and nine counts of theft of a firearm. (CP 218). The charges arose out of one incident involving the burglary of a residence, the taking of a safe that happened to contain firearms, the taking of a motor vehicle to transport the safe, and finally the distribution of some of those firearms. (CP 312).

In pretrial motions in limine, Mr. Nichols asked that the State not be allowed to introduce evidence of a murder in which he was not involved, but where he supposedly came into contact with witnesses who were implicated in the killing of Gordon Feist.

(6/11/12 RP 127-29). Under the res gestae exception to ER 404(b), the court allowed the evidence. (6/11/12 RP 131-32).

Robert Hannigan lived at 3924 Braden Road in Stevens

County, halfway between Gifford and Addy. (6/12/12 RP 198). He
had 55 acres with a locked gate and a fence all around the

property. (*Id.* at 199). There were three locks on the gate; the key was under a rock. (*Id.* at 200). In 2010, Mr. Hannigan had carpenter Verle Wade, along with his helper, Eric Booth, build a porch and deck. (*Id.* at 201). They started work on September 16, 2010, and finished October 8, 2010. (*Id.* at 202). The two men had full access to the house. (*Id.*).

From June 20, 2011, to June 28, 2011, Mr. Hannigan was in the Tri-Cities. (6/12/12 RP 203). When he came home, he saw his Honda Fit was gone and the screens were off the house. (*Id.*). The police were contacted and deputies and a detective showed up. (*Id.* at 206). Among the items that were gone were guns, a gun safe, jewelry boxes, knives, and the Honda Fit. (*Id.* at 206-221). The safe contained 23 firearms. (*Id.* at 222). \$10,000 in ammunition was also taken. (*Id.* at 223-24).

Eric Booth was in prison for murder. (6/12/12 RP 231). He had worked on Mr. Hannigan's deck for about a month a couple of years earlier. (*Id.* at 232). About a year after the deck was built, Mr. Booth went back to the Hannigan home. (*Id.* at 233). Mr. Nichols was with him and they were going to burglarize the house. (*Id.*). Mr. Booth drove there and hopped the gate. (*Id.* at 234). They checked the windows and wore gloves. (*Id.*). Mr. Nichols

went through a window at the back of the house and opened the front door for Mr. Booth, where they took out the safe, jewelry, and ammunition. (*Id.* at 235). They dumped the stuff on a hillside. (*Id.* at 236). They took them away from the Hannigan house by taking the Honda. (*Id.*). A dolly was used to move the gun safe to the car. (*Id.*).

Mr. Nichols drove the car. They cut the locks and bolt at the gate and drove to Old Dominion. (6/12/12 RP 237-38). The two dropped the stuff at Old Dominion and the car at Cole Road/Cole Mountain. (*Id.* at 238-39). Mr. Nichols pushed the Honda down the hill. (*Id.* at 239). They went back to Mr. Nichols' home, where the gun safe was opened. (*Id.* at 235-40). Mr. Booth said he was not present and arrived after the gun safe was opened and the guns pulled out. (*Id.* at 240).

Jesse Fellman-Shimmin and Mr. Nichols were there with Mr. Booth. (6/12/12 RP 240). Some guns were in Mr. Nichols' truck and others were buried in black garbage bags. (*Id.*). Mr. Booth testified he was not around when the guns were put into the bags. (*Id.* at 241). Mr. Fellman-Shimmin got two guns – a Tec-9 and a pistol. (*Id.*). Mr. Booth did not get any guns as Mr. Nichols took them. (*Id.*).

Both men shot the guns. (6/12/12 RP 24). Mr. Booth said Mr. Fellman-Shimmin also shot guns at this particular location, a house. (*Id.* at 243-44). The guns and ammo were in a storage container at the house. (*Id.* at 244). They scrapped Mr. Hannigan's belt buckles and went to Spokane to go to Pacific Steel and some pawn shops. (*Id.* at 244-45). Mr. Booth said Mr. Nichols pawned for just over a \$100 a couple of rings that he recognized from the Hannigan home. (*Id.* at 245-47).

Mr. Booth further testified that he did a job for Gordon Feist. (6/12/12 RP 247). On July 17, 2011, he went back to the Feist home with Collette Pierce and Jesse Fellman-Shimmin to commit a burglary. (*Id.* at 248). They went there with no plan. (*Id.* at 248, 318). Mr. Fellman-Shimmin drove and parked about a mile down the road from the Feist home. (*Id.* at 248-49). The three walked to the house and Ms. Pierce told Mr. Feist they ran out of gas while looking for a friend. (*Id.* at 249). He was going to give them gas, but decided to drive them down to their car. (*Id.* at 250). Mr. Feist drove a 4-wheeler with a bed on the back. (*Id.*). Ms. Pierce sat in the middle, Mr. Booth was on the passenger side, and Mr. Fellman-Shimmin was in the back. (*Id.*). Mr. Feist had a gun on him and, for some reason, Mr. Booth thought he was going to get shot. (*Id.*)

at 251). Mr. Booth shot twice and killed Mr. Feist with a .22 derringer that had been taken from the Hannigan home. (*Id.* at 251-52). After he was shot, Mr. Feist ran into a telephone pole, whereupon the three passengers went back to their car. (*Id.* at 252).

They cleaned up and Mr. Fellman-Shimmin started driving back. (6/12/12 RP 253). They saw a car approaching so they went to Rocky Lake. (*Id.* at 253). They started a campfire and Mr. Nichols arrived. (*Id.*). He drove back to the Feist home to see if anybody had showed up. (*Id.* at 254). After coming up with a story about getting in a dirt bike wreck with Mr. Fellman-Shimmin and Ms. Pierce, Mr. Booth ended up telling police everything that happened. (*Id.* at 254-56).

Mr. Booth testified he got a plea deal for the murder of Mr. and the Hannigan burglary. (6/12/12 RP 292). Mr. Fellman-Shimmin also got a plea deal for the murder and was sentenced to 20 years. (*Id.* at 305). He pleaded guilty to second degree murder. (*Id.* at 334).

Mr. Nichols contacted Mr. Fellman-Shimmin in mid-June 2011 to break into a safe he had from a burglary he and Eric Booth had committed. (6/12/12 RP 307-08). Ammunition was in the back

of Mr. Nichols' truck and the safe was hidden in some bushes. (*Id.* at 310-11). The assault rifles and pistols were more valuable. (*Id.* at 312). Many guns were in the safe; the valuable ones were put into the back of Mr. Nichols' truck except for one pistol and one rifle. (*Id.* at 312-13). The less valuable guns were buried. (*Id.* at 313-14). They waited for Mr. Booth to show up. (*Id.* at 314). Mr. Nichols wanted to sell the guns. (*Id.* at 315). The guns were kept in a storage container at his girlfriend's house. (*Id.* at 316).

On July 17, 2011, the Feist murder occurred. (6/12/12 RP 318). Mr. Feist had a gun in his hand and Mr. Booth shot him. (*Id.* at 322-25). Mr. Fellman-Shimmin called Mr. Nichols after the murder and told him they needed help. (*Id.* at 328). He came and had a pistol taken from the Hannigan burlgary. (*Id.* at 328-29). Mr. Fellman-Shimmin threw his guns out of the car and into the bushes. (*Id.* at 332).

Collette Pierce got 15 years for second degree murder.

(6/12/12 RP 378) She knew Mr. Nichols; Mr. Booth was her best friend in the world. (*Id.* at 379-80). She was present on July 17, 2011, when she, Mr. Fellman-Shimmin, and Mr. Booth hatched a plan for a burglary/robbery of the Feist home. (*Id.* at 386). Mr. Booth knew there were two safes in the shop containing guns, gold

coins, and money. (*Id.* at 387). But someone was home, which they did not expect. (*Id.* at 387-88). While Mr. Feist was driving them to their car, Mr. Booth shot him. (*Id.* at 390).

Afterwards, they went to Rocky Lake where Mr. Nichols met them. (6/12/12 RP 391-92). Ms. Pierce wanted him to take Mr. Booth to the hospital because his face was messed up. (*Id.* at 392). The only people at the murder were Mr. Booth, Mr. Fellman-Shimmin, and Ms. Pierce. (*Id.* at 404). Mr. Nichols only showed up afterwards at Rocky Lake. (*Id.*).

The supervisor of loan associates at Pawn One in Spokane testified that on July 6, 2011, there was a pawn transaction for two rings where Mr. Nichols signed the contract. (6/13/12 RP 435-440). The price was \$135. (*Id.* at 440).

Jay Pratt was cutting firewood on Cole Road on July 14, 2011, when he saw a black car over the embankment. (6/13/12 RP 553-54). It was a secluded area and Mr. Pratt called an officer. (*Id.* at 555).

Shawn Merrill lived on Old Dominion Road, where he had a small engine business and a gun shop. (6/13/12 RP 562). He found a gun safe on his property on July 19, 2011. (*Id.* at 563). The safe was pried open. (*Id.* at 564-65). Mr. Merrill also found

some knives, scabbards, wooden boxes, and jewelry around and under the brush. (*Id.* at 566).

Crystal Fellman-Shimmin, Jesse's sister, said he was arrested in the middle or end of July 2011. (6/13/12 RP 577).

Before the arrest, Jesse gave her three guns (a rifle and two handguns) to put underneath the house and to try to get them back where they came from. (*Id.* at 578-79). She called Mr. Nichols, one of the people Jesse told her was the source of the guns. (*Id.* at 579). Mr. Nichols said he threw the guns into the river. (*Id.*). She did not see him do it, though. (*Id.*).

Detective Michael Hannigan investigated the Hannigan burglary. (6/13/12 RP 602). The Honda Fit was found some 20 miles away from where it was taken. (*Id.* at 609). The detective was involved in finding the gun safe at Old Dominion Road and found a buried bag of firearms. (*Id.* at 615, 620). He was also involved in the Feist murder investigation. (*Id.* at 611).

Detective Gilmore went to see Mr. Booth after a community corrections officer saw him with facial injuries consistent with the crash of the 4-wheeler. (6/13/12 RP 622-23). The detective arrested Mr. Booth, who resisted throughout. (*Id.* at 626). He was in custody on July 20, 2011. (6/14/12 RP 647). On July 26 or 27,

Mr. Booth wanted to talk. (*Id.* at 647). Out of these interviews, the detective eventually got a search warrant for the home of Mr. Nichols' girlfriend. (*Id.* at 655). Firearms and ammunition were the only items tied to the Hannigan burglary. (*Id.* at 667).

Mr. Fellman-Shimmin was arrested the same day as Mr. Booth. (6/14/12 RP 681-82). Consistent with the investigation, Detective Gilmore thought Mr. Booth murdered Mr. Feist and was involved in the Hannigan burglary. (*Id.* at 687). Ms. Pierce was arrested on July 27, 2011, and was later charged with murder. (*Id.* at 692). She had no connection with the Hannigan burglary. (*Id.* at 693).

Detective Gilmore had contact with Mr. Nichols on July 26, 2011. (6/14/12 RP 670). Mr. Nichols said he was not involved in any burglaries, homicides, or pawns. (*Id.* at 671).

The jury found Mr. Nichols guilty of nine counts of first degree unlawful possession of a firearm, nine counts of theft of a firearm, one count of residential burglary, one count of theft of a motor vehicle, and one count of first degree trafficking in stolen property. (6/15/12 RP 873-877; CP 277-297; CP 327-340). Mr. Nichols waived speedy sentencing. (6/15/12 RP 883).

At sentencing, it was not disputed that Mr. Nichols' offender score was 9+. (7/31/12 RP 891). In imposing sentence, the court stated:

I am painfully aware that you are a human being and you don't have a history of violence. And I can tell you that I had no idea at the time of trial that the – the ultimate sentencing range was anywhere near this. And like your attorney, I guess, I had that initial look and said, "This just can't be," that folks who are charged with and ultimately plead guilty to murder would end Up with the sentences they did compared to the range that we look at here.

And your attorney reminds me of that, and he asks me to look at the purpose of the Sentencing Reform Act to determine whether the range here is clearly excessive. And there's a nonexclusive list of policy goals. He first talks about proportionality, seriousness of offense, and your – and your history.

And he mentions in his briefing, that "Well, there might not have been guns in this safe and had there not been guns it would have been a different story." And to that extent it's true. But as I think about that, you've been in prison, you have this criminal history. You are very well aware that anything having to do with guns is kryptonite; I mean, you're to keep away. And yet the safe was clearly a target. There was also jewelry and other items, and had it been just jewelry and other items we wouldn't be having this discussion today. But you targeted a safe with a pretty good idea, I think, that it might have weapons in it, weapons that could be fenced, sold, to generate money for other purposes.

And I thought about that. And that seemed to

me to be precisely the reason why the legislature would pass 9.41.040(6), the – hard time for armed crime statute. But it's just that. It's the risk of firearms finding their way into a criminal population, into the hands of people [who] have demonstrated that they can't own or possess weapons responsibly.

So while we talk about seriousness of the offense and criminal history, felons who are stealing and possessing guns, by legislative fiat, present an unacceptable risk of safety – risk to the public and public safety.

[Defense counsel] then says, "Well, you know, what is essentially a life sentence or the possibility of life sentence doesn't provide respect for the law by providing a just punishment." Yet in *State v. Murphy*, a case cited by the state, there's a quote: "It's the province of the legislature if it chooses, not the appellate court or a superior court, to ameliorate any undue harshness arising from . . .consecutive sentences for multiple firearm counts."

The idea there is that it's – the way that the court promotes respect for the law is to abide by the law, and to enforce the law, not to make the law. And here, to a large degree, your attorney – who is ever – ever representing you zealously – suggests that I overlook the very clear language of two statutes in particular, 9.94A.589 and 9.41.040, which both make it mandatory that there be consecutive sentences. And I think [the deputy prosecutor's] right: were the court to impose anything other than consecutive sentences that it would be reversible error.

. . . And as someone who knows, you can't be around weapons, you know, you opened the safe, you distributed the weapons, and ultimately one of the weapons that was involved in this – in this burglary, whether or not it was in the safe or not,

resulted - or was used to commit a murder.

There has to be just punishment recognizing that's what happened, but I – I again look – look past that, I don't make too much of that, and rather just look at the offense here, where it's very clear that Mr. Booth didn't have the ability to plan or execute an offense like this, that you had spent, you know, nearly the last decade in jail or prison, you knew that you weren't supposed to have weapons, you targeted a gun safe. It's had [sic] to say that that – that didn't put you on notice that you knew there were going to be guns involved, and you knew that there were significant punishments for guns involved but you made that choice.

. . . And it does seem harsh. I am the first to admit that.

... And therefore, as we look to the – the counts, on Counts 1 through 9 of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, with a standard range of 86 to 116 months, with nine counts, I'll sentence you to 90 months on each count, to run consecutive. That's 810 months.

On Counts 13 through 21 the standard range is 77 to 102 months. Nine counts, I'll sentence you to 80 months on each count to run consecutive. And that creates 1530 months, 125 years or so. And I recognize it's a life sentence. I – I have been painfully aware of that and thinking about it since I understood that this is what the range looked at – or, was – was calculated at.

And again, I don't feel I have a choice. And I think it's, in this case, also appropriate.

With regard to the residential burglary, with your history of burglary I think it's appropriate to impose a sentence of 84 months to run concurrently with each of the other two sentence [sic].

For theft of a motor vehicle, a mid-range sentence of 50 months, again to run concurrent with the other sentences.

For trafficking in stolen property a sentence of 80 months, towards the top of the range, also to run concurrent. And that's based on this history of theft.

Again, I'm aware that there's no violent offenses in your history. And I'm aware that those who were convicted of the worst violent offense are looking at significantly less time than you. And I – I've thought about it. I don't like it.

Nevertheless, this is my duty. It's my duty to uphold the law. And the legislature has determined that this is the appropriate – appropriate type of sentencing in cases like this, and it is therefore my – my obligation to follow the law as the legislature directs it.

So that will be the sentence of the court. (7/31/12 RP 909-15).

This appeal follows. (CP 345).

III. ARGUMENT

A. The court erred by admitting evidence of an unrelated murder under the res gestae exception to ER 404(b)'s prohibition against admissibility of other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove a person's character in order to show action in conformity with it.

ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not

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