OCT 2 4 2013

NO. 31037-0-III

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

V.

CHRISTOPHER GEORGE NICHOLS

Petitioner/Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Mr. Tim Rasmussen, # 32105 Prosecuting Attorney Stevens County

Lech Radzimski, # 39437 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Stevens County Prosecutors Office 215 S. Oak Street Colville, WA (509) 684-7500

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

IV. ARGUMENT

- A. THE APPELLANT DID NOT PREVIOUSLY RAISE AN ER 404(B) CHALLENGE PERTAINING TO THE EVIDENCE OF THE FEIST HOMICIDE AND IS THEREFORE BARRED FROM RAISING THIS CHALLENGE FOR THE FIRST TIME ON APPEAL.
 - 1. THE APPELLANT FAILED TO PRESERVE THE ISSUE OF 404(B) AND ALSO INVITED THE ERROR BY ONLY HAVING THE COURT REVIEW THE EVIDENCE FROM A STANDPOINT OF RELEVANCY

The trial court properly admitted evidence regarding the murder of Mr. Feist in the trial against the Appellant. An appellate court reviews a trial court's evidentiary rulings for abuse of discretion. *E.g., State v. Powell,* 126 Wash.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995); *Kappelman v. Lutz,* 167 Wash.2d 1, 6, 217 P.3d 286 (2009). The Appellant failed to make a challenge based on ER 404(b) regarding the murder of Mr. Feist. The Appellant only argued for exclusion of this evidence under a theory of relevancy. The Appellant's ER 404(b) argument is precluded pursuant to the invited error doctrine and should be precluded due to trial counsel's failure to preserve the issue for appeal.

The Appellant is precluded from raising an ER 404(b) challenge on appeal as this error was invited because the trial court was only asked to consider the evidence from a standpoint of relevancy. Under the invited

error doctrine, a criminal defendant may not set up error at trial and then complain of it on appeal. *In re Pers. Restraint of Thompson*, 141 Wn.2d 712, 723, 10 P.3d 380 (2000). The doctrine applies when counsel takes affirmative action that induces the trial court to take an action that party later challenges on appeal. Id. at 723-24.

Likewise, the appellant cannot raise an ER 404(b) challenge on appeal because he failed to preserve the issue. "Generally, to preserve error for consideration on appeal, the alleged error must be called to the trial court's attention." State v. Wiley 26 Wash.App. 422, 427, 613 P.2d 549, 553 (1980) citing State v. Wicke, 91 Wash.2d 638, 591 P.2d 452 (1979). As the Supreme Court of Washington reasoned in Seattle v. Harclaon, "It is the duty of counsel to call to the court's attention, either during the trial or in a motion for new trial, any error upon which appellate review may be predicated, in order to afford the court an opportunity to correct it." 56 Wash.2d 596, 597, 354 P.2d 928, 929 (1960). The court in Harclaon further opined, "Counsel cannot, in the trial of a case, remain silent as to claimed errors and later, if the verdict is adverse, urge his trial objections for the first time on appeal." Id. citing Bingaman v. Seattle, 139 Wash. 68, 74, 245 P. 411 (1926); Keough v. Seattle Electric Co., 71 Wash. 466, 128 P. 1068 (1913), and cases cited; Bodine v. Boyd, 383 Pa.

525, 119 A.2d 274 (1956); Weinrob v. Heintz, 346 III.App. 30, 104 N.E.2d 534 (1952).

The Appellant argued that evidence regarding the Feist homicide be suppressed based only upon a theory of relevancy pursuant to ER 402. No mention of Rule 404(b) was made by the Appellant when the trial court addressed this issue. Trial counsel indicated he believed the State should be precluded from presenting that evidence because it was not relevant. RP at 127. Other motions, specifically Motions in Limine 8 thru 11, did address ER 404(b) considerations. With respect to those motions, the court and state acknowledged that the court would have to weigh the probative value of that evidence against its potential prejudice. RP at 126. ER 404(b) issues were raised by the Appellant with respect to other issues as well. RP at 114, 124, 125. Trial counsel neither cited nor discussed any rules of evidence in his written Motion in Limine # 14. The trial court was only requested by the Appellant to consider whether or not this evidence was relevant.

Had an ER 404(b) motion been made pertaining to this evidence the trial court would have been given the opportunity to conduct an ER 404(b) balancing test to determine if the probative value of the evidence outweighed the prejudice. However, this was not the motion that the Appellant made. Appellant only requested that the court review this issue

from a standpoint of relevancy. The evidence was clearly relevant and it was not an abuse of discretion for the court to admit it. The Derringer which was used to kill Mr. Feist was stolen from Mr. Hannigan. The fact that it had been in possession of Eric Booth, who committed the Hannigan burglary was relevant. It was also relevant for the jury to hear how this Derringer came to be found next to Mr. Feist after he had been shot. Likewise it was relevant for the jury to hear testimony from Collette Pierce, Eric Booth, and Jesse Fellman-Shimmin that the Appellant was in possession of the Taurus Judge and AK-47, stolen from Mr. Hannigan, shortly after they committed the homicide. The Appellant being in possession of those firearms was relevant to the jury's consideration regarding whether he was a felon who had previously stolen the firearms.

The Appellant invited this error based upon the fact the court was only asked to consider relevancy. The Appellant likewise failed to raise the issue and therefore failed to preserve the issue for appeal.

2. THE COURT'S USE OF THE TERM "RES GESTAE" DID NOT TRIGGER THE REQUIREMENT FOR 404(B) ANALYSIS.

The use the term "res gestae" by the trial court does not automatically trigger a requirement for ER 404(b) balancing test. The term "res gestae" has several distinct meanings in the law, some of which

are related to ER 404(b). *See, e.g., State v. Tharp,* 27 Wn.App. 198, 204, 616 P.2d 693 (1980), *aff'd,* 96 Wn.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). However, it also has a more general meaning that encompasses the idea of "completing the picture." *Id.*

It is this more general meaning of "res gestae" that the trial court applied to this case when the Appellant made a motion to exclude evidence arguing that it was irrelevant. The Appellant asked the court to not admit evidence pertaining to the homicide as he believed it was not relevant. RP at 128. The court heard from the parties as to why this information should be suppressed. RP at 129 – 131. In ruling the evidence admissible the court held:

And Mr. Maxey, that's -- that's how it appears to me, is more of a -- a res gestae thing. I mean, certainly the defense is able to cross examine each of these witnesses about, of course, their alleged involvement, or their bias, prejudice, ability to perceive, I mean, the kind of standard impeachment issues. And how do we un-ring that bell?

I don't know that it's possible to preclude the state from making any reference to that contact without -- really limiting the state in presenting its case, such as it is.

So, I don't think I can -- I can grant that motion in limine. I will listen closely to be sure that it kind of meets with this entire res gestae idea, but otherwise I -- I don't think the state can be precluded from -- from testimony that would implicate Mr. Nichols in what they're charging him with through these witnesses, who just happen to have been involved in this other activity.

RP at 131

The trial court ruled that testimony regarding the homicide was relevant and analyzed the admissibility of this evidence from the standpoint of relevancy only. The court used the term "res gestae" in the sense that the evidence "completed the picture" of what had occurred. The court decided that the recovery of the Derringer by law enforcement, the appearance of the Appellant with the Taurus Judge and the AK-47 at Rocky Lake was all relevant evidence for the jury to hear. The court did not use the term "res gestae" in the context of ER 404(b) because it was not asked to look at this evidence from the standard of ER 404(b). The court was asked to determine if the information was relevant and the court properly determined that it was relevant. This evidence was part of the "res gestae" of the case, in that it completed the picture.

B. THE EVIDENCE WHICH WAS ADMITTED AT TRIAL REGARDING THE FEIST HOMICIDE DOES NOT FALL UNDER 404(B).

Evidence regarding the murder of Mr. Feist does not fall under ER 404(b) because the evidence related to the actions of Collette Pierce, Eric Booth, and Jesse Fellman-Shimmin; not of the Appellant. APPELLANT's reliance on ER 404(b) is misplaced as the evidence regarding the Feist

homicide does not fall under the type of evidence contemplated by ER 404(b). The rule states:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

ER 404(b) provides a criminal defendant with a basis to prevent a trier of fact from hearing about their past crimes. The purpose of ER 404(b) is to prevent the State from suggesting that a *defendant* is guilty because he or she is a criminal-type person who would be likely to commit the crime charged. *State v. Lough*, 125 Wash.2d 847, 859, 889 P.2d 487 (1995) [emphasis added].

The murder of Gordon Feist does not fall under ER 404(b) because the Appellant did not commit the offense. The Appellant correctly points out that, "The only people at the murder were Mr. Booth, Mr. Fellman-Shimmin, and Ms. Pierce. Mr. Nichols only showed up afterwards at Rocky Lake." *See* Brief of Appellant at 8. The Appellant's argument that the jury should not have heard testimony regarding the Feist homicide based on ER 404(b) is erroneous. The jury knew the Appellant had no involvement in the killing of Mr. Feist because the Appellant was not present when it occurred, those actions cannot be considered for

suppression under ER 404(b). The testimony of the witnesses about what occurred at Rocky Lake is not ER 404(b) evidence. The witnesses testified as to their observations of the Appellant in possession of firearms which constituted counts 8, 9, 15, and 21 in the information. This testimony was not "evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith"; rather these observations were direct evidence used to establish the Appellant's guilt of the offenses he was charged with.

- C. IT WAS HARMLESS ERROR FOR THE COURT TO ALLOW THE JURY TO HEAR EVIDENCE REGARDING THE FEIST HOMICIDE
 - 1. IF THE COURT FINDS ER 404(B) APPLICABLE ADIMISSION OF EVIDENCE REGARDING THE FEIST HOMICIDE WAS HARMLESS ERROR AS THE APPELLANT WOULD HAVE OPENED THE DOOR TO THAT EVIDENCE.

Assuming that evidence pertaining to the homicide falls under ER 404(b), admission of this evidence was harmless error as the Appellant would have opened the door to this evidence when cross examining Collette Pierce, Eric Booth, and Jesse Fellman-Shimmin. If Appellant's trial counsel had not cross examined them in the manner in which he did his performance would have been deemed ineffective.

A defendant or any other witness may be vigorously cross examined if they choose to testify. State v. Graham, 59 Wn. App. 418, 427, 798 P.2d 314 (1990) (citing State v. Etheridge, 74 Wn.2d 102, 113, 443 P.2d 536 (1968); State v. Olson, 30 Wn. App. 298, 300-01, 633 P.2d 927 (1981)). Thus, a defendant or witness may be cross examined upon material matters within the scope of his direct testimony. Olson, 30 Wn. App. at 301 (citing RCW 10.52.040; State v. Robideau, 70 Wn.2d 994, 425 P.2d 880 (1976); State v. Gakin, 24 Wn. App. 681, 603 P.2d 380 (1979), review denied, 93 Wn,2d1011 (1980)). The decision as to whether a particular topic is the proper subject of cross examination is within the sound discretion of the trial court. Olson, 30 Wn. App. at 301 (citing State v. Etheridge, 74 Wn.2d 102, 443 P.2d 536 (1968); State v. Baylor, 17 Wn. App. 616, 565 P.2d 99 (1977)). The trial court may, within its discretion, grant considerable latitude in cross examination; once a witness has testified as to a general subject on direct examination, the cross examination may develop and explore various phases of that subject. *Id.*

The Washington rule does not confine cross examination to the questions asked, but permits the cross examiner to explore and inquire into the subjects discussed on direct examination. *State v. Riconosciuto*, 12 Wn. App. 350, 354, 529 P.2d 1134 (1974). The trial courts decision to allow cross examination on a particular subject will be overturned on

appeal only upon a showing that the trial court abused its discretion. *Olson*, 30 Wn. App. at 301 (citing *State v. York*, 28 Wn. App. 33, 621 P.2d 784 (1980)).

The classic explanation of the rationale supporting liberal admissibility of evidence under the "open door" policy is that:

It would be a curious rule of evidence which allowed one party to bring up a subject, drop it at a point where it might appear advantageous to him, and then bar the other party from all further inquiries about it.

Rules of evidence are designed to aid in establishing the truth. To close the door after receiving only a part of the evidence not only leaves the matter suspended in air at a point markedly advantageous to the party who opened the door, but might well limit the proof to half-truths.

State v. Mak, 105 Wn.2d 692, 711, 718 P.2d 407 (1986) (quoting State v. Gefeller, 76 Wn.2d 449, 455, 458 P.2d 17 (1969)).

A portion of the evidence that was presented to the jury was testimony from Collette Pierce, Eric Booth, and Jesse Fellman-Shimmin. Their testimony consisted of instances in which they had either helped the Appellant acquire the firearms or witnessed him in possession of the firearms. While the investigation into the murder of Mr. Feist was pending all three were interviewed by law enforcement and provided extensive statements which were later proved to be false. All three resolved their cases through plea negotiations which involved an

agreement to testify against the Appellant. At trial, all three testified. Each was cross examined regarding the prior false statements they had made to law enforcement. The three witnesses were also cross examined regarding the fact that they received favorable resolutions in exchange for their agreement to testify against the Appellant. Had the court trial court suppressed evidence pertaining to the murder of Mr. Feist the door to that evidence would have been opened on cross examination. A failure to cross examine the three witnesses regarding prior inconsistent statements and plea agreements they had entered into would have been a serious error which would have called into question the reliability of the result of the trial. Had Appellant's trial counsel not cross examined them regarding these issues his performance would have been found to be ineffective.

2. IF THE COURT FINDS ER 404(B) APPLICABLE ADIMISSION OF EVIDENCE REGARDING THE FEIST HOMICIDE WAS HARMLESS ERROR GIVEN THE OVERWHELMING UNTAINTED EVIDENCE WHICH WAS PRESENTED.

Even if this court finds the evidence in question to fall under ER 404(b), and further finds that the court did not properly evaluate the probative value versus the prejudicial effect of the evidence, the admission of this evidence the error was harmless. The evidence surrounding the murder of Mr. Feist was only a small portion of the evidence the jury had

available to determine the Appellant's guilt of the charged offense. The outcome of the trial would have been no different.

In State v. Tharp the Supreme Court of Washington reviewed a claim that a trial court committed reversible error that evidence was admitted in violation of ER 404(b) and that the court failed to conduct a ER 404(b) weighing test. See generally State v. Tharp 96 Wash.2d 591, 637 P.2d 961 (1981). In *Tharp* the trial court admitted evidence pertaining to a series of both charged and uncharged criminal offenses which were attributed to Tharp. Id at 592, 637 P.2d at 961. In Tharp the jury also heard testimony that Tharp was temporarily released from serving a sentence for another offense that had been previously committed. Id. at The Court recognized that, "...before 593, 637 P.2d at 961-962. exercising its discretion to admit the prior conviction and the furlough status, the trial court should weigh the necessity for its admission against the prejudice that it may engender in the minds of the jury." Id. at 597, 637 P.2d at 964. However, in *Tharp* the trial court did not conduct a ER 404(b) balancing test. Id. at 598, 637 P.2d at 964. The record before the court indicated that the trial court simply accepted the State's contention that the evidence was necessary to show motive. Id. The Court found that the evidentiary rulings had been made in error; however they did not find that the admission constituted reversible error. *Id.* at 599, 637 P.2d at 965.

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